IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

IN RE:

Case No. 72,182

[TFB Case No. 88-31,150 (CRE)

(09B) 1

MICHAEL J. JAHN (Petition for Reinstatement).

D

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BARJUN 29 1989

SA SEME COURT

On Petition for Review of the Referee's Report in a Reinstatement Proceeding

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
FLA. BAR NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 FLA. BAR NO. 217395

and

JAN WICHROWSKI
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On June 12, 1985, the Supreme Court of Florida suspended Petitioner from the practice of law pursuant to his two felony convictions for delivery of cocaine to a minor and possession of cocaine. The Florida Bar filed a Complaint seeking further discipline. Pursuant to the Referee's recommendations, this Court then suspended the Petitioner from the practice of law for three years effective June 12, 1985, The Florida Bar v. Jahn, 509 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1987).

On March 31, 1988, Petitioner filed a Petition for Leave to File Early Petition for Reinstatement, along with his early Petition for Reinstatement. The Florida Bar opposed this in its Response, citing Rules of Discipline, Rule 3-7.9(e), since respondent had not yet completed payment of the costs assessed against him in the prior discipline proceedings. On May 12, 1988, this Court granted Petitioner's leave to file the early Petition for Reinstatement, but stated that the matter would not be referred to a referee until costs were paid. On October 18, 1988, Petitioner filed a notice indicating that costs were paid in full and the Court assigned the case to the referee on October 21, 1988.

Final Hearing was held on February 20, 1989. Petitioner presented six witnesses, including himself. Mr. Roger Smith,

correctional officer at Lake Correctional Institution, testified that he had known the Petitioner since 1985 when he was an inmate facility that Petitioner had at and demonstrated rehabilitation from drug use since his conviction, T-10-19. Mr. Murray Epstein, an attorney from south Florida, testified that he had known the Petitioner since 1970 and that he had demonstrated rehabilitation from drug use since his conviction. Mr. Epstein also testified that he and Petitioner discussed legal cases since his suspension and Petitioner appeared legally knowledgeable, Petitioner's father, Mr. George Jahn, also testified of Petitioner's rehabilitation subsequent to the 1985 conviction, T-34-49. He stated that he had occasionally discussed his law practice with Petitioner and Petitioner appeared to express legal knowledge in those conversations, T-46. He also testified that he had attempted to help his son find employment through his friends at title insurance companies, but that he had been unsuccessful due to Petitioner's felony conviction, T-49-50. Petitioner testified regarding his rehabilitation from cocaine dependency and his job history since his suspension, T-50-97, 104.

In 1987, Petitioner obtained employment as a trust officer at NCNB, a Miami branch of a major Florida bank, by misrepresenting himself as a member of The Florida Bar in good standing without any criminal history. He lied on his resume,

his employment application and under oath on a polygraph exam, TFB Ex. 1. He also lied during some ten interviews with NCNB, T-62. Petitioner's misrepresentation was discovered and he was terminated within a few days of his employment, T-61-63.

Petitioner also testified that he went through bankruptcy due to lawsuits brought against him by the three young females who alleged that he had forcibly injected them with cocaine against their will and sought damages therefore, T-95.

Petitioner has not worked in the legal area since his suspension but did attend two or three Continuing Legal Education courses, T-87-88. He did some legal research, about 5-7 hours a month, while employed by Florida Ranchlands, T-94.

The Florida Bar presented one witness, a staff investigator, who described his investigation of Petitioner's Petition for Reinstatement and how he learned of the NCNB incident, T-99.

The Referee ordered Petitioner to submit to a urinalysis drug test, without prior warning, after the hearing and Petitioner successfully passed this test. On May 4, 1989, the Referee filed his report recommending that Petitioner be readmitted to The Florida Bar immediately, without taking The Florida Bar exam, and be placed on probation for three years with

periodic drug screening and participate in any programs recommended by Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc., RR-5-6.

The Florida Bar's Board of Governors determined that the Bar should petition for review of the Referee's recommendation of reinstatement at their May, 1989, meeting.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner has the burden of proving his rehabilitation from the factors which caused him to become addicted to cocaine and to be convicted of the first degree felony of delivery of cocaine to a minor, by injection, and the third degree felony of possession of cocaine in relation to another young female. There evidence that Petitioner has sought treatment for his drug use that he now leads a drug free lifestyle. However, Petitioner's actions during his period of suspension have cast doubt about his moral integrity which appear even more deeply rooted than his cocaine addiction. It is well settled that a petitioner for reinstatement to The Florida Bar must demonstrate evidence of an unimpeachable character in order to prove his fitness to practice law. By lying during his suspension, in representing himself as a member in good standing of The Florida Bar who had no criminal history in order to obtain employment as a trust officer in a bank, and continuing this fraud in ten interviews, many resumes, and even a polygraph exam, Petitioner has utterly and completly failed to demonstrate the required moral standards for reinstatement.

Further, Petitioner admittedly declared bankruptcy during his suspension with the main purpose of avoiding restitution to the young women with whom, it was criminally charged, he forcibly

injected with cocaine. Petitioner should not be reinstated to The Florida Bar.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THE UNIMPEACHABLE CHARACTER REQUIRED DURING HIS SUSPENSION AND HIS PETITION FOR REINSTATEMENT SHOULD BE DENIED.

A petitioner for reinstatement must demonstrate certain behavior in order to demonstrate his rehabilitation and fitness to practice law. The elements of this behavior are outlined in The Florida Bar v. Timson, 301 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1987):

- 1. Strict compliance with the disciplinary order
- 2. Evidence of unimpeachable character
- 3. Clear evidence of a good reputation for professional ability
- 4. Evidence of lack of malice and ill feeling toward those involved in bringing the disciplinary proceedings
- 5. Personal assurances of sense of repentance and desire to conduct practice in exemplary fashion in the future
- 6. Restitution of funds

at 449.

Also, <u>In Re: Dawson</u>, 131 So.2d 472 (Fla. 1961) and <u>In Re:</u> Whitlock, 511 So.2d 524 (Fla. 1987).

It is the position of The Florida Bar that Petitioner clearly failed to prove the second element, evidence of unimpeachable character. As acknowledged by the Referee in his report, RR-4, Petitioner obtained employment as a trust administrator with NCNB in Miami in October, 1987. He did so by

completely and knowingly lying about his criminal history, saying he had none, and representing himself as a member in good standing of The Florida Bar, T-58-63, 91. He lied by ommitting this information and changing dates of employment to conceal his prison term on his resume which he sent to NCNB and many other potential employers, T-96. He also deliberately and completely lied on the NCNB employment application, about ten NCNB job interviews, and under oath on a pre-employment polygraph, T-62. Although he was directly questioned regarding his criminal history on the polygraph exam, he successfully passed the test by controlling his physical responses, T-63. He acknowledged that his only motive for these misrepresentations was personal gain, RR-4.

This action reflects very poorly on an individual who seeks to demonstrate his rehabilitation from a first degree felony conviction and his fitness to practice law. Petitioner's prior discipline, egregious as it was since it involved injecting a minor female with cocaine in the restroom of an Eckerds drugstore, was attributed to his addiction to cocaine. Drug and alcohol addictions are recognized as diseases in these enlightened times and thus afforded some sympathy. By this action, however, Petitioner has subjected his moral integrity to question. Lying and misrepresenting facts are recognized as character traits which do not deserve sympathy or belong in the

practice of law. Further, he lied to obtain employment in the field of administering trust money, where a trustee's honesty and integrity are instrinsic to his position. He obtained this job by misrepresenting himself as a member in good standing of The Florida Bar who did not desire to remain in private practice, T-91.

This Court has not hesitated to impose significant discipline on attorneys who engage in similar fraud and misrepresentation; The Florida Bar v. Johnson, 439 So.2d 216 (Fla. 1983); The Florida Bar v. Beneke, 464 So.2d 548 (Fla. 1985). In The Florida Bar v. Nuckolls, 521 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1988), this Court suspended a respondent for 90 days where he fraudulently obtained 100% financing by misrepresenting the purchase price of condominium units, stating:

We cannot characterize as "bad judgment" a deliberate attempt to penetrate a fraud on lenders who, based on respondent's misrepresentations, thought they were making an 80% loan.

at 1121.

The referee in the case at hand is thus overly lenient in characterizing the NCNB fraud as "not the real" Michael Jahn, RR-5.

The Florida Bar does not contest the Referee's findings of fact, recognizing that these are afforded great weight as long as

they are supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record, <u>In Re: Inglis</u>, 471 So.2d **38,** 40 (Fla. **1985).** Further, Petitioner stipulated to the facts of the NCNB incident. However, the recommendations of the referee regarding the ultimate disposition of the case are recognized as being subject to a broader scope of review since it is ultimately the Court's responsibility to enter an appropriate judgment, Inglis at 41.

Further, Petitioner's bankruptcy must be noted. He admitted that he undertook a personal bankruptcy with the primary purpose of avoiding the lawsuits brought by three young women against him for his alleged conduct in forcibly injecting them with cocaine, T-95. This demonstrates a failure to provide restitution to those harmed as a result of his previous misconduct, yet another requirement for reinstatement.

Public interest is yet another factor against Petitioner's reinstatement. As the Referee noted, a petition was submitted by 28 members of the Bar from the Orlando area, RR-2, which urged the Referee to carefully consider the reinstatement to assure that the Petitioner would not repeat the behavior which resulted in his felony suspension and reflected so poorly upon the Bar as a whole. It must be remembered that Petitioner's criminal investigation involving injecting several young women, one a minor, with cocaine against their will in motel rooms, resulted

in substantial publicity at the time, making the public well aware that Petitioner was a member of The Florida Bar. Petitioner has already complained about the hostile feelings towards his reinstatement, T-64-65, 67. The Referee acknowledged the great interest shown in the reinstatement by the media, T-64-67, Petitioners Ex. 6. The duty of protecting the public and the image of The Florida Bar would not be served by allowing this Petitioner to be reinstated given his demonstrated lack of rehabilitation. Since respondent lied about his criminal history and Bar status while suspended, one must greatly question whether he would be truthful in the future regarding his background if reinstated.

In Re: Alfieri, 529 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 1988) addressed a similar situation to the case at hand. This Court refused to allow reinstatement where the petitioner had been allowed to resign despite serious criminal convictions and had subsequently failed to provide notice thereof to the New York Bar of which he was also a member. Although the referee found that the petitioner had demonstrated rehabilitation and recommended reinstatement, this Court denied it, stating:

The Bar argues that this failure to comply with the regulatory rules of that jurisdiction casts doubt on petitioner to resume the practice of law in Florida. We agree., at 1117.

This Court has not hesitated to deny reinstatement where petitioners fail to prove rehabilitation, <u>In Re: Doyle</u>, 241 So.2d 689 (Fla. 1970); In Re: Pahules, 382 So.2d 650 (Fla. 1980).

It is acknowledged that Petitioner presented evidence of his rehabilitation from his drug addiction. Petitioner, however, summed up his own professional reputation for professional ability at final hearing, where he stated, "I liked being a lawyer. I don't think I did much if a job with it in the last couple of years.", T-83. None of the attorneys who testified were able to state that they had directly worked with Petitioner so as to be able to judge his professional competence. Along this line, Petitioner has not had any direct employment in the legal field while suspended which would afford him the opportunity to keep abreast of the law nor has he demonstrated enough significant self education to make the passage of the Bar exam unnecessary, as recommended by the Referee, RR-3.

This Court, <u>In Re: Stoller</u>, 36 So.2d 443 (Fla. 1948), stated, "Reinstatement is more a matter of grace than of right and is dependant upon rehabilitation and whether or not the disciplinary sanctions have been adequate.", at 444. Thus, it is immaterial that the suspension period has passed if Petitioner has not demonstrated a rehabilitation of his character.

In Re: Wolf, 257 So.2d 547 (Fla. 1972), this Court denied reinstatement to a petitioner disbarred after felony convictions stating that he was not entitled to reinstatement despite the lapse in time, noting that the license to practice law is a privilege, not a right, and the importance of the Court's duty of the protection of the public and the image and integrity of The Florida Bar, at 548. In denying reinstatement, the Court stated it understood the sympathy felt for a petitioner in these circumstances, which is clearly demonstrated throughout the referee's report at hand. Nevertheless, the Court in Wolf held that the service of a suspension period is not considered sufficient punishment unless the Petitioner has demonstrated rehabilitation. Petitioner has not, and therefore his Petition for Reinstatement should be denied.

CONCLUSION

Respondent has failed to demonstrate the rehabilitation necessary to be allowed to be reinstated as a member of The Florida Bar. His misrepresentation of himself as a member of The Florida Bar in good standing without a criminal felony record in order to gain more lucrative employment casts grave light upon his character and completely fails to show the unimpeachable character required for reinstatement. His bankruptcy, designed to avoid restitution through the lawsuits by the young females which were brought as a result of his felonious conduct in forcibly injecting them with cocaine, is clearly reflective of the lack of integrity required in these proceedings.

Accordingly, The Florida Bar requests that the Petition for Reinstatement be denied and The Florida Bar's costs in responding to his Petition, currently totalling \$1,205.89, be assessed against the Petitioner.