STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner adopts the Bar's Statement of the Case and Facts as presented in its initial brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner has proved his rehabilitation by the overwhelming weight of the evidence presented in these proceedings. He has proven up all of the elements required of a petitioner in reinstatement proceedings by In Re: Dawson, 131 So.2d 472 (Fla. 1961).

The Bar presented no witnesses in opposition to Petitioner's reinstatement. Their sole witness was a Bar investigator who testified briefly about the manner in which he investigated Petitioner's petition. The investigator did state that an ad was placed in The Florida Bar News seeking comments on Petitioner's reinstatement.

The Referee found that Petitioner has lived a drug-free life since the spring of 1984. The misconduct which led to Petitioner's felony conviction and subsequent suspension was "entirely attributable to chemical dependency," a problem that no longer exists. After considering the evidence before him, including Petitioner's five witnesses (two by deposition), and after observing Petitioner during final hearing, the Referee found that Petitioner had proved rehabilitation and should be reinstated.

The only impediment to Petitioner's reinstatement was his misrepresentation to NCNB Bank about Petitioner's past conviction. The Referee specifically considered the NCNB episode. He observed that it occurred only after Petitioner's candor about his past criminal record repeatedly resulted in his

being denied employment. The Referee found that this act was an aberration from Petitioner's normal exemplary behavior and was not sufficient cause to deny reinstatement.

Petitioner has proved rehabilitation by the overwhelming weight of the evidence presented. He has been suspended for over four years and during that time, with the exception of the NCNB incident, has lived a faultless life. He should be reinstated and allowed to resume the practice of law.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PETITIONER HAS DEMONSTRATED GOOD MORAL CHARACTER AND REHABILITATION AND SHOULD BE REINSTATED.

A. Introduction

Petitioner was automatically suspended on June 12, 1985 following his conviction of the felonies of possession of cocaine and delivery of cocaine to a minor. His suspension was predicated on the two felony drug convictions. RR-1. Subsequently, The Florida Bar brought disciplinary proceedings against Petitioner which resulted in a three-year suspension nunc pro tunc to the beginning of the automatic suspension in 1985. The Florida Bar v. Jahn, 509 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1987).

In the original disciplinary proceedings, The Florida Bar first tried to convince the Referee and then tried to convince this Court that Petitioner was guilty of more than his convictions. Specifically, the Bar attempted to prove that Petitioner forcibly injected women with cocaine against their will. Jahn, supra, 286. The Referee emphatically rejected this claim after finding that the testimony of the two women who testified was "highly unreliable and worthy of little weight,...." and that the cocaine use by the women was "consensual." Jahn, supra, 286.

At final hearing in the reinstatement case, despite actively investigating Petitioner's petition for reinstatement and despite an ad in The Florida Bar News seeking input on his petition, The

Florida Bar presented no witnesses in opposition to the petition. Their sole witness was a Bar investigator who testified about the manner in which the petition was investigated.

The only evidence before the Referee rebutting Petitioner's rehabilitation was a composite exhibit containing documents pertaining to the NCNB incident. The Referee specifically considered those documents and Petitioner's testimony relating to them. He then found that Petitioner had proved rehabilitation and recommended that Petitioner be reinstated.

As was true in the disciplinary proceedings, The Florida Bar has appealed the Referee's findings and recommendations to this Court. The Bar hangs its appellate hat solely on the NCNB evidence and completely ignores the overwhelming evidence proving Petitioner's rehabilitation.

B. The NCNB Incident

Petitioner candidly admitted the misrepresentation to NCNB. T-58-64, 91-93, 96-97. Petitioner stipulated to the entry into evidence of the resume that he sent to NCNB, his application for employment and the results of his polygraph examination. In all three instances, Petitioner concealed his past criminal conviction.

Clearly, Petitioner acted wrongfully. But, while Petitioner's misrepresentation was for personal gain, i.e., he wanted a job in Miami, he was not trying to wrongfully extract anything from NCNB. He was not trying to steal any money from them. He was not trying to obtain financing under false

circumstances. He was not trying to get the bank to act to its detriment. As Petitioner stated, his "sole purpose was to get in the front door and show them I was a good employee...." T-91.

As observed by the Referee, Petitioner's misrepresentation to NCNB was the result of his becoming "extremely frustrated" over his repeated failure during the preceding ten months to get a job after revealing his past conviction and with Petitioner's being "almost obsessed" with a desire to leave Orlando and to move to Miami. RR-4.

Petitioner's misrepresentation to NCNB, while not commendable, was understandable when Petitioner's past efforts at securing gainful employment are considered. He testified that for the eight to ten months prior to applying to NCNB, he had sent out "an extraordinary number of resumes" and had travelled down to Miami frequently for interviews. However, whenever he revealed his past background, the interviewers were always very congenial and very supportive, but there were never any job offers. T-59.

Petitioner related one incident where he interviewed with a title insurance company in Miami and the interviewer was "extraordinarily positive." Towards the end of the interview, the interviewer asked when Petitioner could start employment. Petitioner then disclosed his entire background, including his drug addiction and his conviction. The interviewer completely reversed his position, became very cool, and the interview ended within five minutes. T-60. Petitioner stated that similar

circumstances happened in quite a few instances. Even Petitioner's father, a well-respected lawyer whose practice is entirely devoted to the title insurance industry, could not get Petitioner a job. Mr. George Jahn contacted at least seven companies throughout the state and in Mr. Jahn's words:

And though they were friends of mine and people that I've worked with for a great many years, they were frank to tell me that because of the conviction, they didn't think that their upper echelon that approved everything would go along with it. T-50.

Petitioner wasn't trying to defraud NCNB. They would have received valuable services for their pay. After being repeatedly denied employment following candid disclosure and after being denied the chance to show rehabilitation and to prove that he could become a productive member of society, Petitioner desperately sought some means of proving his worth. As he explained it to the Referee:

The reason I did that was -- As (sic) I said, I tried for ten months. My purpose was not to forever deny them that knowledge, my purpose was to get my foot in the front door, establish myself at some type of record there, that I was a good employee and that I was well worth keeping on, you know, when I did discuss it to them.

It's absolutely ludicrous of me to think that I could withhold that information from them for any period of time. I listed them -- I would have had to list them as my employer when I reinstated, and the Bar would call them immediately. I knew that.

My sole purpose was to get in the front door and show them I was a good employee, and hopefully, then, they would keep me on. T-91.

In fact, Petitioner did list his NCNB employment on his Petition for Reinstatement.

The evidence is un rebutted that Petitioner disclosed his conviction to his employer before NCNB and to all employers ever since. T-56, 57, 90-92, P.Ex. 4 and 5.

Petitioner acknowledged that his resumes were misleading. However, except for NCNB, he always disclosed his conviction during his interviews, T-97. And, he never got hired.

NCNB required Petitioner to take a polygraph examination. Although he had never taken one before and although he stated during the examination that he had never been convicted of a crime, he passed the polygraph test. T-61. In explaining his taking the polygraph examination, lying on it, and passing it, Petitioner gave additional insight to the Referee about his concealment of his convictions. As Petitioner put it:

And it was just that after ten months of that situation, the first time I don't disclose it I get the job.

So they then told me well, you have to take a polygraph exam. And basically I went to the polygraph exam and I just threw my hands up and said Hey, I've -- I've really got nothing to lose at this point. T-63.

Ironically, the polygraph operator told Petitioner how to pass the test. He told Petitioner that the most important thing is attaining a rhythmic breathing pattern. Petitioner concentrated on his breathing and he passed the test. T-63.

When asked if he expected to pass the polygraph test, Petitioner replied:

I didn't know. I just went and took a shot at it because I wanted to go home (Miami) that bad. T-64.

The Orlando area is replete with bad experiences for

Petitioner. Unfortunately, due to financial circumstances, he had to stay there because he needed to live with his parents. Petitioner describes the Orlando area, due to his convictions and the extensive publicity surrounding them, as being a difficult place to live because of the "general negative atmosphere" surrounding his living there. T-62. Even Petitioner's reinstatement was generating negative publicity as indicated by Petitioner's Exhibit 6, a newspaper article dated December 5, 1988 with headlines stating, "Lawyer out of prison wants to practice again." T-65.

Support for Petitioner's testimony about bad publicity was provided by Judge Norris, the Referee. He added on the record that he had received at least three telephone calls about Petitioner's reinstatement proceedings from Orlando-area radio stations. T-65.

Petitioner originally tried to attend a lawyers AA group, but the extensive publicity surrounding this Court's order of discipline resulted in his receiving a chilly reception among the members of that group. T-67. He left the group after two meetings.

The Bar would have this Court believe that Petitioner's misrepresentation on his resume, his misrepresentations to each interviewer and his subsequent passage of the polygraph exam are each a separate incident which show a course of conduct of deceit and dishonesty. Petitioner urges this Court to adopt the Referee's view and to consider the entire episode as a single

offense that took place over a one-week period and which, while showing bad judgment, does not show a basic character flaw.

Petitioner's conviction and disciplinary sanction did not result from dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. They were the result of his dependency on cocaine. His conviction involved possession of cocaine and delivery of cocaine to a minor who, after testifying before a referee, was found to have consented to the delivery of cocaine. Jahn, supra, 286.

It is un rebutted that, with the exception of NCNB, Petitioner has advised all of his employers and all of his prospective employers of his criminal background. The Bar did not present a single witness who testified to the contrary.

Petitioner disclosed his NCNB employment on his Petition for Reinstatement and did not equivocate or in any way try to defend his misrepresentation. He made a mistake and acknowledges it.

Despite the fact that the Bar had jurisdiction to bring disciplinary proceedings against Petitioner for his misrepresentation, there is no evidence indicating that they did so. Rather, they would have Petitioner's petition be denied, thereby resulting in his being out of practice an additional year beyond the four years that he has already been suspended. [Rule 3-7.9(1) prohibits a successive petition for reinstatement being filed for one year after a denial of that first petition].

Petitioner argues that if he were disciplined for similar conduct, his penalty would not even approach one year. For example, in The Florida Bar v. Siegel and Canter, 511 So.2d 995

(Fla. 1987), two lawyers each received 90 day suspensions (with automatic reinstatement) for lying on an application to secure financing of their law office. In its decision suspending Siegel and Cantor, this Court found that the Respondents were "guilty of a deliberate scheme to misrepresent facts in order to secure full financing of their purchase." The Court then suspended them for their "fraudulent activity." The Court specifically rejected the Bar's request for a ninety-one-day suspension.

In the The Florida Bar v. Batman, 511 So.2d 558 (Fla. 1987), a lawyer received a public reprimand for testifying falsely about his practicing law while suspended for non-payment of dues.

In the The Florida Bar v. Levkoff, 511 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1987), the Respondent also performed numerous acts as a lawyer while he was suspended. As discipline for his misconduct, the Court ordered an additional ninety-day suspension to begin on the date that the first suspension ended.

Finally, in The Florida Bar v. Shupack, 523 So.2d 1139 (Fla. 1988), the accused received a ninety-one-day suspension for fraudulently recording the purchasers' mortgage before the vendors' mortgage. Mr. Shupack had previously been suspended for thirty days for engaging in similar misconduct.

The Bar cites The Florida Bar v. Beneke, 464 So.2d 548 (Fla. 1985), The Florida Bar v. Johnson, 439 So.2d 216 (Fla. 1983), and The Florida Bar v. Nuckolls, 521 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1988) as support for their argument that Petitioner should not be reinstated. Its reliance is misplaced.

Neither Beneke (public reprimand) nor Nuckolls (ninety days) received disciplines requiring proof of rehabilitation. Both involved misconduct far more serious than Petitioner's misrepresentation to NCNB. (in fact, Nuckolls was guilty of a breach of a fiduciary duty). Yet neither lawyer was required to prove good character as an incident to continuing his practice. Why, then, should Petitioner be denied reinstatement, after he has proved rehabilitation when his offense did not even approach the severity of Beneke's or Nuckolls'?

Petitioner's situation is not even closely similar to that involved in the Johnson case. Johnson forged his wife's signature to three promissory notes and he filed false financial statements to a bank. His conduct involved illegal conduct involving moral turpitude in violation of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(3).

The above-cited cases are set forth to put Petitioner's acts into perspective. They are not on point, but are analogous. They indicate, however, that the delay in Petitioner's reinstatement to practice as a result of the Bar's appeal of the Referee's report constitutes sufficient discipline for his bad judgment.

The Referee below specifically considered the NCNB incident in making his decision on proof of rehabilitation and reinstatement. The Referee set forth his concern over the incident and came to the following conclusion:

Petitioner's lack of candor with NCNB cannot, of course, be condoned but i feel that the negative

effects of this one transgression are now mitigated by the passage of time (one and one-half years) and by his efforts to live a life free from a dependency on chemicals (four and one-half years). Thus, the critical question is: "Which one is the real Michael Jahn -- the one who kicked cocaine or the one who lied to NCNB?" In view of the totality of the evidence, I opt for the one who kicked cocaine. RR-5.

C. Bankruptcy

Although the Bar did not raise the issue at final hearing, they now argue to the Supreme Court that Petitioner's bankruptcy shows a lack of good character. The circumstances of the bankruptcy in the case at Bar show that the bankruptcy laws were properly invoked and that Petitioner's discharge in bankruptcy shows no lack of character.

In two Bar admissions cases, Florida Board of Bar Examiners. Re: G. W. L., 364 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1978) and Florida Board of Bar Examiners. Re: Groot, 365 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1978), this Court held that the discharge of debts in bankruptcy does not automatically show a lack of good character. In essence, the Court requires an examination of the circumstances attendant to the bankruptcy in determining if the conduct was morally reprehensible.

While Board of Bar Examiner cases are not exactly on point with reinstatement cases, the parallel is significant. They both involve proof of integrity.

In essence, the focus of the investigation, be it by The Florida Bar in reinstatement proceedings or the Board of Bar Examiners in admission proceedings, is whether the applicant has

good moral character. A finding that the applicant or petitioner has sought bankruptcy under legitimate circumstances does not indicate, by itself, a lack of good character or morally reprehensible conduct.

The Bar argues on page 6 of its brief that Petitioner's bankruptcy demonstrated a failure to provide restitution to those harmed as a result of his misconduct, apparently in contravention to the restitution of funds requirement listed in In Re: Dawson, 131 So.2d 472 (Fla. 1961). The plain language of Dawson indicates the restitution element is only applicable "in cases involving misappropriation of funds,...." Dawson, supra, page 474. No misappropriation is involved in the case a Bar.

Two of the three women who have sued Petitioner with allegations that he forcibly injected them with cocaine appeared before the Referee in Petitioner's earlier disciplinary proceedings. The Referee found their testimony to be "highly unreliable and worthy of little weight,...." Jahn, supra, page 286. The Referee in those proceedings (who is the same Referee in the instant case) specifically rejected the Bar's contention that Petitioner forcibly injected the witnesses with cocaine against their will. Id., 286. The Bar should be estopped from continuing this line of argument.

The two witnesses that testified against Petitioner in his original disciplinary proceedings were the women involved in his two criminal convictions. It cannot be repeated enough that those convictions were for possession of cocaine and delivery of

cocaine to a minor. There was no conviction for battery or anything that smacks of forcible delivery of cocaine to any of those women.

Interestingly, the physician that treated Petitioner for his cocaine addiction, Dr. Smith, was an anesthesiologist for twenty years. He testified that one had to have assistance to inject a person with anything when they were unwilling. D/S-167.

The circumstances surrounding the suit by the third woman did not even give rise to criminal proceedings.

Petitioner testified that he sought bankruptcy because he couldn't afford to defend himself in circuit court against the suits brought against him. T-68, 69. The suits brought by Brenda Miller and Kim Bailey were summarily dismissed. Petitioner settled the case with Tanya Stepp (the minor that testified in his earlier disciplinary proceedings) for \$1,500, payable at \$125 per month for one year. T-69. The settlement was pursuant to the advice of Petitioner's lawyer in the bankruptcy, Steven Milbrath (a witness by deposition on Petitioner's behalf at final hearing in the reinstatement). D/M-6.

Petitioner's financial situation ever since his discharge from incarceration in October, 1986, has been bleak. During that entire period he has lived at home with his parents. T-41, 89.

Two weeks prior to final hearing in the case at Bar, Petitioner bought the first car that he has owned since being released from jail. T-42. The purchase price was \$500. T-89.

Petitioner's salary during the time period from October, 1986 until petitioning for bankruptcy ranged from \$16,500 to \$19,000. T-68. During that time period, Petitioner was required to pay the costs assessed against him in his original disciplinary proceedings in the amount of \$1,800, Jahn, supra, p. 287, and was required to post a \$500 cost deposit with The Florida Bar prior to petitioning for reinstatement. P.Ex. 3.

Petitioner originally thought that filing for bankruptcy would be a relatively simple matter. However, the three plaintiffs in the civil actions against him elected to pursue adversary proceedings and he could not afford to pay for a lawyer in bankruptcy. T-85. Fortunately, a lawyer that used to work with Petitioner's sister (who is also a lawyer) and who handled bankruptcy matters agreed to take his case "in spite of the fact that [he] couldn't pay them a dime." T-85, 86. Steve Milbrath agreed to handle the Tanya Stepp matter as a favor. T-86. Basically, however, Petitioner did all of the research and drafted the pleadings on his bankruptcy matter. T-86.

With the exception of the \$1,500 nuisance value settlement with Tanya Stepp, the claims of the women were summarily dismissed. It is important to note that if the Court found that there was either fraud or an intentional tort by Petitioner, the civil actions against Petitioner would not have been discharged. 11 U.S.C., sec. 523(A).

Petitioner cannot emphasize strongly enough to this Court that he did not forcibly inject any individual with cocaine. He

did not inject any individual with cocaine against their will. There has never been a finding by anyone to the contrary. The only time the issue has appeared in a judicial forum, the Court found for Petitioner and against the claimants.

The failure of Tanya Stepp, Kim Bailey, Brenda Miller, or any of their lawyers to speak against Petitioner's reinstatement is extremely significant. At least two of them should have known of the reinstatement proceedings because the Bar's investigator talked to their lawyer about Petitioner. T-100.

in Florida Board of Bar Examiners Re: Kwasnik, 508 So.2d 338 (Fla. 1987), the Board recommended against admission of an individual who had discharged a civil judgment of approximately \$200,000. The judgment resulted from the applicant's killing an individual in an automobile accident while the applicant was driving in an intoxicated condition. This Court rejected the Board's position and stated on page 339 of its opinion that:

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